
Page 1 of 5 
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting 

January 10, 2013 
    

CITY OF ELIZABETH CITY 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
THURSDAY, JANUARY 10, 2013 
4:30 PM 
 
Chairman Calliotte called the meeting to order with the following members present:  Jim 
Calliotte, Gordon Adams, Richard Boyd, Roy Golden, Dorothy Rosenke, Marian Stokes and Jo 
Thomas.   Also present were Angela Cole, Sr. Planner and Dawn Harris, recorder.   An 
introduction of the Commission members was made.  It was stated for the record that the 
Commission had a quorum with all members present. 
 
Chairman Calliotte asked if there were any revisions or corrections to the agenda.  There were no 
revisions or corrections.  Chairman Calliotte asked for a motion to adopt.  Ms. Golden made a 
motion to adopt the agenda.  Ms. Rosenke seconded the motion.  ALL IN FAVOR:  
CALLIOTTE, ADAMS, BOYD, GOLDEN, ROSENKE, STOKES and THOMAS.  
MOTION PASSED. 
 
Chairman Calliotte asked for approval or corrections of the minutes from the September 13, 
2012 meeting.  Mr. Adams made a motion to approve the September minutes.  Mr. Boyd 
seconded the motion.  ALL IN FAVOR:  CALLIOTTE, ADAMS, BOYD, GOLDEN, 
ROSENKE, STOKES and THOMAS.  MOTION PASSED. 
 
Prior to today’s meeting, notification was sent to neighbors living within 100’ of the property in 
question.   Commission members received a copy of each application and were to visit the site.  
North Carolina law provides that persons have an opportunity to address an application; thus the 
Commission conducts a public hearing on the application.  During the hearing the Commission 
receives evidence to determine that proposed changes are not incongruous with the special 
character of the historic district or the historic property.  They review this evidence against 
guidelines listed in the City’s ordinance before issuing a Certificate of Appropriateness.   Each 
application is heard the same way.  The judicial format of the hearing requires that they be 
impartial.  Any written Staff comments are evidence presented just as any other evidence.  If any 
Commission member has had reason to discuss the specific details of the application, they ask to 
be excused from hearing the application.   
 
Because of the quasi-judicial format of the hearings, the Commission hears evidence and judges 
whether the change is not incongruous.  The Commission is required by North Carolina law to 
swear in persons who speak before the Commission and offer evidence.   
 
First petition on the agenda was Old Business for Application HP-08-11 by Doris Johnson for 
property located at 220, 222 North Poindexter Street.  The applicant is requesting to revise the 
existing Certificate, modifying approved renovations to the structure on the subject property.  In 
addition to the improvements previously authorized, the updated project includes front, rear and 
rooftop elevation changes.  Chairman Calliotte asked for the Staff Report.  Ms. Cole presented 
the following. 
 
 



Page 2 of 5 
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting 

January 10, 2013 
    

 
STAFF REPORT 
HP-08-11 is a second hearing of existing Certificate of Appropriateness 08-11.  The request 
being heard is to modify that existing Certificate.  Staff provided in the report a summary of the 
property’s history as well as the zoning and aerial.  The applicant’s request has been broken 
down based on their documents submitted into eight individual items for the Commission’s 
consideration.  Staff reminded the Commission of the Secretary of Interior’s standards for 
rehabilitation.  The Commission has been provided with a copy of the minutes from the first 
meeting from July as well as the Certificate that was issued.   
 
Chairman Calliotte asked for questions from the Commission regarding the Staff Report.  There 
were no questions.  He called the applicant forward to be sworn in.  Ms. Doris Johnson came 
forward and was sworn in by Ms. Harris. 
 
Ms. Johnson stated that the changes that have been made are to the store front including the 
windows in the front elevation, the top second floor windows.  They would also like to take out 
the store front as it is now and replace it. 
 
Ms. Golden asked Ms. Johnson to explain the first floor store front.  Ms. Johnson stated to the 
left is the entrance to the private loft apartment and the door with the two side lights to the right 
is the entrance to the restaurant and takeout area.   
 
Chairman Calliotte stated that it is hard to tell from the front view, but looking at the interior 
drawing it looks like the left entrance does retain the setback style and the right entrance is flush.  
Ms. Johnson stated yes, but the right entrance is not completely flush.  Chairman Calliotte stated 
that he did see a slight indentation.  He asked how they would differentiate the private door and 
the public door.  Ms. Johnson stated that they would have a hanging sign with an arrow. Ms. 
Golden asked if there would be two different street numbers.  Ms. Johnson stated yes. 
 
Ms. Golden asked why the applicant changed to casement windows when the Commission had 
recommended sash windows at the previous meeting.  Ms. Johnson stated that it was for cost and 
efficiency.   
 
Ms. Golden asked what year the renovations were based on.  Ms. Johnson stated that they based 
it on different periods on the advice from their contractor and architect.  Mr. Boyd asked if they 
were going after tax credits.  Ms. Johnson stated no. 
 
Chairman Calliotte asked if there was a reason for changing from leaving the existing store front.  
Ms. Johnson stated it was more costs efficient.    
 
Chairman Calliotte stated that as the last time Ms. Johnson was there, he still has reservation of 
using the casement windows.  He stated that he understands that the casement windows may be 
more viable in terms of expense, but as the Commission has looked downtown there are no 
casement windows in existence.  Even though Ms. Johnson has mixed the architectural periods 
he still has real concerns how this building fits with the other buildings particularly right along 
the streetscape where her building is located.  He stated that the double hung windows would 



Page 3 of 5 
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting 

January 10, 2013 
    

certainly fit a lot better than casement windows.  Casement windows are not so bad when closed; 
however when they are open they give a very different feel. 
Mr. Boyd stated that last time he road around he did not see any casement windows, but today he 
saw a whole building full of the casement windows:  second-story where Two and Half Women 
are.  Ms. Stokes stated that those windows were put in when the condos were done.  Ms. Golden 
stated that a lot of things were done without Commission approval. 
 
Mr. Boyd stated that the only other casement windows that are in the historic district are the steel 
casement windows which are in the mattress company/gymnasium; which is what this building 
had originally.  Metal casement windows started in the late ‘30’s later ‘40’s, but the majority of 
the buildings now have the double hung windows.  Chairman Calliotte stated that particularly 
along Poindexter.  The windows on that street are all fairly similar and it would be a striking 
difference because of all the buildings being connected.  To switch from double hung windows 
to casement windows would be a present a major difference.  Ms. Stokes stated that the whole 
block has still retained the historic value.  Chairman Calliotte stated that is why he is concerned 
about the main entrance being setback.  He does like the setback on the private entrance more 
than the degree of setback on the main entrance.  Ms. Johnson asked if he would like the setback 
on the main entrance to be more.  He stated that he thinks it would be more inline with the 
existing architecture.   
 
Mr. Adams asked what it would take away from the inside to increase the setback.  Ms. Johnson 
stated it would just take away the double doors for the heating/cooling.  Chairman Calliotte 
asked if anyone else on the Commission had concerns with the degree of the setback on the 
entrance doors.  Ms. Golden stated she did not have concern with the setback.  She stated that 
she thinks sometimes they are nothing but trash collectors.  Mr. Boyd stated that he does not 
have an issue with the setbacks as drawn.  He is glad that Ms. Johnson wants to redo the front of 
the building.  The whole front has been cobbled together over the years and is horrible. 
 
Chairman Calliotte stated that he had not initially noticed the small setback.  His concern was not 
having a setback.  He stated that if no one else has concerns about the depth of the setback then 
he can certainly live with it.  Ms. Golden stated that she thinks the double doors are very 
important to the efficiency of the heating and cooling system.   
 
Mr. Adams asked if the door at the rear labeled private dining be used as an egress/ingress.  Ms. 
Johnson stated that the egress/ingress will be to the front; however when there is a private party 
they would have use of this door. 
 
Ms. Stokes asked if Ms. Johnson was going to fix her alleyway as the other tenants have.  Ms. 
Johnson stated yes. 
 
Chairman Calliotte asked if the windows were fixed windows on the first floor.  Ms. Johnson 
stated yes.  Mr. Boyd asked if the fixed windows downstairs would be commercial store front 
material.  Ms. Johnson stated that she believes so. 
 
Chairman Calliotte called for a motion on the windows for the front façade. 
 



Page 4 of 5 
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting 

January 10, 2013 
    

Ms. Golden made a motion to APPROVE the first floor proposal for windows and doors.  Mr. 
Boyd seconded the motion.  ALL IN FAVOR:  CALLIOTTE, ADAMS, BOYD, GOLDEN, 
ROSENKE, STOKES and THOMAS.  MOTION PASSED. 
 
Chairman Calliotte called for motion on the second floor windows.   
 
Chairman Calliotte made a motion that the windows be double hung windows as previously 
approved.  Ms. Stokes seconded the motion.  ALL IN FAVOR:  CALLIOTTE, ADAMS, 
GOLDEN, ROSENKE, STOKES and THOMAS.  ALL OPPOSED:  BOYD.  MOTION 
PASSED. 
 
Ms. Cole confirmed that if the applicant decides to go with a different window product 
(manufacturer) it is fine.  Chairman Calliotte stated yes as long as the windows are double hung 
windows there is no problem. 
 
Chairman Calliotte stated that he thinks that it should be added to the motion that the windows 
be one-over-one. 
 
Chairman Calliotte stated that next item for consideration would be the side elevation windows.  
Mr. Boyd stated that he thinks that the Commission approved double hung windows at the last 
meeting and the applicant is still asking for double hung windows.   
 
Mr. Boyd made a motion to APPROVE the double hung windows that was approved a year and 
half ago.  Ms. Rosenke seconded the motion.  ALL IN FAVOR:  CALLIOTTE, ADAMS, 
BOYD, GOLDEN, ROSENKE, STOKES and THOMAS.  MOTION PASSED. 
 
The next item for consideration was the back elevation.  Chairman Calliotte stated that he 
assumes on the first floor the doors are French doors.  Ms. Johnson stated that is correct.  
Chairman Calliotte stated that he noticed on the drawing that one had no panes and the other has 
panes.  He asked if that is how they will look.  Ms. Johnson stated no there will be no panes.  The 
upstairs will be the same with no panes. 
 
Ms. Stoke made a motion to APPROVE the windows and doors on the back elevation as 
proposed with fire escape.  Mr. Adams seconded the motion.  .  ALL IN FAVOR:  
CALLIOTTE, ADAMS, BOYD, GOLDEN, ROSENKE, STOKES and THOMAS.  
MOTION PASSED. 
 
Ms. Golden asked what the building on the roof is shown in the drawing.  Ms. Cole stated that it 
is referred to as a “dog house” and allows access to the roof. 
 
Wendell Green came forward and was sworn in by Ms. Harris. 
 
Mr. Green stated that it is an existing area and an access to the roof.  The reasoning behind it is 
that they need to maintain whatever mechanical that may be up on the roof.  He stated that if the 
Commission would look at the plans for the second floor they will notice a spiral stair.  The 
spiral stair leads up to that area. 
 



Page 5 of 5 
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting 

January 10, 2013 
    

Next item for consideration were the paint colors.  Chairman Calliotte asked if the paint colors 
were the same colors that were approved previously.  Ms. Johnson stated that she believes so.  
Ms. Golden asked if she was going to paint the cinderblock on the front of the building red.  Ms. 
Johnson stated no that it will be covered with something such as the awning.  It will not be seen.  
All that is being painted is brick. 
 
Ms. Golden made a motion to APPROVE the paint colors as proposed.  Mr. Boyd seconded the 
motion.  ALL IN FAVOR:  CALLIOTTE, ADAMS, BOYD, GOLDEN, ROSENKE, 
STOKES and THOMAS.  MOTION PASSED. 
 
Ms. Cole stated that on item number eight Staff did not have details for this element of the 
application.  This would also apply to any gutter details.  She stated that if Ms. Johnson is not 
ready to detail her lighting then Staff would recommend bringing these items back to the 
Commission.  The Commission agreed.  Chairman Calliotte stated that he had three questions.  
He stated that the crown molding shown looks much more Colonial.  Ms. Johnson stated that the 
crown molding shown is not accurate.  They are going with what is similar to what is on the 
block.  They will be going with what was approved previously.  Second was the design of the 
planters.  Ms. Johnson stated that the planters were not accurate either.  They will be going with 
the originals as approved earlier.  Last was the sign on the awning.  Chairman Calliotte asked if 
the sign would be as large as shown in the plans.  Ms. Johnson stated that it is still to be 
determined and is prepared to return for approval.  Chairman Calliotte stated that it is his guess 
the shown sign is too large. 
 
Ms. Cole reminded the Commission everything approved tonight will have to meet building code 
standards.  If there are modifications to that, Staff will be aware through communication between 
the departments.  The Commission will hear additional elements of this application as it moves 
forward:  lighting, signage and the patio (outdoor dining). 
 
This concluded Application 08-11. 
 
Ms. Cole stated that she did not have a formal Staff Report. 
 
Ms. Cole stated that she did make note of the Commission’s request through email.  Staff will 
communicate with the regional office that works with our local real estate offices that the 
Historic District pamphlet are disseminated along with an updated roster of our downtown and 
residential properties.   
 
Chairman Calliotte stated that there has been discussion regarding ECHNA and the Commission 
doing another workshop on grants.  He stated that they will possibly do one that is aimed 
specifically at Road Street and perhaps one in more depth opened to the entire community. 
 
With there being no further business, meeting was adjourned. 
 
Respectfully submitted, Dawn Harris, Recorder 


